

Research Paper



July 2017

# INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN THE TRANS-PACIFIC PARTNERSHIP: INCREASING THE BARRIERS FOR THE ACCESS TO AFFORDABLE MEDICINES

Carlos M. Correa



## **RESEARCH PAPERS**

## **62 REVISED**

## INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN THE TRANS-PACIFIC PARTNERSHIP: INCREASING THE BARRIERS FOR THE ACCESS TO AFFORDABLE MEDICINES

**Carlos M. Correa**<sup>\*</sup>

SOUTH CENTRE

**JULY 2017** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> Carlos M. Correa is Special Advisor on Trade and Intellectual Property at the South Centre and Director of the Center for Interdisciplinary Studies on Industrial Property at the Law Faculty of the University of Buenos Aires.

#### THE SOUTH CENTRE

In August 1995 the South Centre was established as a permanent intergovernmental organization of developing countries. In pursuing its objectives of promoting South solidarity, South-South cooperation, and coordinated participation by developing countries in international forums, the South Centre has full intellectual independence. It prepares, publishes and distributes information, strategic analyses and recommendations on international economic, social and political matters of concern to the South.

The South Centre enjoys support and cooperation from the governments of the countries of the South and is in regular working contact with the Non-Aligned Movement and the Group of 77 and China. The Centre's studies and position papers are prepared by drawing on the technical and intellectual capacities existing within South governments and institutions and among individuals of the South. Through working group sessions and wide consultations, which involve experts from different parts of the South, and sometimes from the North, common problems of the South are studied and experience and knowledge are shared.

#### NOTE

Readers are encouraged to quote or reproduce the contents of this Research Paper for their own use, but are requested to grant due acknowledgement to the South Centre and to send a copy of the publication in which such quote or reproduction appears to the South Centre.

The views expressed in this paper are the personal views of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of the South Centre or its Member States. Any mistake or omission in this study is the sole responsibility of the author, who is thankful for the careful editing by Caroline Ngome Eneme.

This paper is a revision of the original version published in September 2015. It will be incorporated as a chapter in Thilo Rensmann (ed.), *Mega-Regional Trade Agreements and the Future of International Trade and Investment Law*, Springer, forthcoming.

South Centre Ch. du Champ d'Anier 17 POB 228, 1211 Geneva 19 Switzerland Tel. (41) 022 791 80 50 Fax (41) 022 798 85 31 south@southcentre.int www.southcentre.int

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exec	CUTIVE SUMMARY	. 1
I.	INTRODUCTION	2
II.	THE TPP PRECEDENTS: US-FTAS	4
III.	TPP OBJECTIVES IN RESPECT OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	6
IV.	SOME PUBLIC HEALTH-RELATED PROVISIONS IN THE TPP	8
	IV.1. Patentable Subject Matter	8
	IV.2. Opposition and Revocation	11
	IV.3. Exceptions	12
	IV.4. Exhaustion of Rights	13
	IV.5. Data Exclusivity	14
	IV.6. Linkage	15
	IV.7. Extension of the Patent Term	16
	IV.8. The Value of Pharmaceutical Patents	17
V.	TRANSITIONAL PERIODS	18
VI.	Conclusions	19
Refe	ERENCES	20

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) is the most ambitious initiative to set out trade rules outside the multilateral trade forum, the World Trade Organization. A distinct characteristic of that agreement is that it includes countries with enormous differences in their GDP per capita. Although the TPP may never enter into force as a result of the withdrawal of the United States of America (USA), it may nevertheless influence legislative changes in some of the negotiating countries and in future free trade agreements (FTAs). As in the case of other FTAs entered into by the USA, an outstanding objective of its negotiating strategy was to respond to the demands of the pharmaceutical industry for longer and higher levels of intellectual protection. While some of the maximalist positions initially submitted by the developed countries participating in the negotiation were attenuated because of the opposition of some developing countries, the agreement ended up with a wide range of TRIPS-plus provisions.

Some of these provisions may directly affect access to medicines beyond what is admissible under the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement), as they give pharmaceutical companies the power to expand their market control and, in some cases, further delay the competition of generic products, including "biosimilars". While the USA failed in its attempt to introduce a provision that would have prevented contracting parties from adopting more rigorous standards of patentability for pharmaceuticals (as provided for, for instance, in section 3(d) of the Indian Patent Act), it succeeded in incorporating a provision that might be read as obliging such parties to recognize patents on the second use of known medicines. The TPP also includes an obligation to recognize market exclusivity on the basis of the protection of test data which, for the first time in an FTA, was extended to biologicals products. This type of protection is not mandated by the TRIPS Agreement. Another problematic provision requires a "linkage" between patent protection and drug marketing approval, thereby expanding the patent owners' right to possibly block the registration of a generic product (despite that such approval *per se* does not imply commercialization). The adopted provision partially mirrors the US legislation, without incorporating some of the measures that may increase certainty for competitors (like the listing of patents in the "Orange book"). An extension of the patent term to compensate pharmaceutical companies for "unreasonable" delays in the granting of a patent or the marketing approval of a product is also part of the package. Significantly, the TPP does not include the limitations that can be found in the US legislation in respect of that extension. In order to counter the opposition by developing countries to some proposals, developed countries admitted certain transitional periods in favour of the former. As illustrated by the experience with the transition periods under the TRIPS Agreement however, the relief they may bring is likely to be insufficient. At the end of those periods-which are arbitrarily fixed-the conditions in the beneficiary countries may have not changed at all or to the extent necessary to make the application of the required standards of protection more tolerable.

#### I. **INTRODUCTION**

The pharmaceutical industry from the United States of America and Europe scored a major victory with the adoption, in 1994, of a binding agreement on intellectual property (Agreement on Trade Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights<sup>1</sup>) in the context of the nascent World Trade Organization. While some transitional periods were allowed, the TRIPS Agreement did not leave any space for a special and differential treatment based on the countries' levels of development. In particular, it imposed on all WTO members the obligation to grant patents in all fields of technology. The main objective of this obligation was to put an end to the policies applied in many developing countries that did not grant patent protection for pharmaceutical products. The lack of patent protection allowed these countries to promote price competition in the pharmaceutical market and, in some cases, to develop generic pharmaceutical industries. The most noticeable case is that of India, which developed a strong pharmaceutical industry-known today as "the pharmacy of the developing world"<sup>2</sup>—while patent protection in this field was not available.

The Trans-Pacific Partnership is an ambitious trade agreement that the United States negotiated, through its Trade Representative (USTR) with 11 other countries (Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Canada, Chile, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore and Vietnam). Most of the countries negotiating the TPP fall under the category of developed countries; five of them are developing countries.<sup>3</sup> Notably, there are major differences in the level of development of these countries (e.g., Vietnam's GDP per capita is approximately 43 times less than the US GDP per capita and 35 times less than Singapore's). Despite this, as discussed below, the USA sought the application of the same standards of intellectual property (IP) protection to all parties in the partnership.<sup>4</sup>

In fact, as noted by the Nobel Prize economist Paul Krugman, tariffs are already low among the TPP negotiating countries.<sup>5</sup> There are very little gains to be obtained from the TPP in this regard.<sup>6</sup> The International Trade Commission in their latest report "put the cost of American import restraints at 0.01 per cent of GDP. What these agreements tend to be really about are issues such as intellectual property rights—with far less certain advantages [...]."<sup>7</sup>

The most important strategic reason of this initiative for the USA is likely to be to counter China's growing influence in the Asia-Pacific region, and to make the region less

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Annex 1C of the Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization (opened for signature 15 Apr 1994) 1869 UNTS 299 (TRIPS Agreement). <sup>2</sup> See e.g. Descheemaeker (2012–2013), 543.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) is the only precedent where the US negotiated and concluded an agreement with these two categories of countries in a single FTA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The negative implications of this "one size fits all" approach have extensively been addressed in the literature and various reports. See e.g. UK Commission on Intellectual Property (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Krugman (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This is probably one of the reasons for the skepticism of Pascal Lamy, former director of the WTO, in relation to the TPP, in his view an "old-fashioned agreement [...] the last of the big old-style agreements". See Martin (2014). In accordance with one study, even if tariffs for agricultural products were entirely eliminated (an unlikely outcome) the intraregional trade expansion would be modest and mainly benefit US exports. See Burfisher et al. (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Smith (2014).

hospitable for the Chinese "state capitalism". In the last instance, the main objective seems to be to isolate or contain China.<sup>8</sup> This country, however, did not enter into the TPP negotiation. The disciplines proposed in the TPP in various fields, including state enterprises, would require dramatic changes in the functioning of its economy. The intellectual property provisions sought by the USA—eventually with the support of other negotiating parties—may undermine China's capacity to continue its technological catching up with the Western countries<sup>9</sup> and to address the health needs of its vast population.

Although after the withdrawal of the USA from the TPP by the Trump Administration,<sup>10</sup> this treaty may never enter into force, the chapter on intellectual property may remain as the template for future trade negotiations and as a guide for unilateral actions by the USA and other developed countries in this field.

This paper briefly considers some of the intellectual property components of existing FTAs, which may affect access to medicines, and focuses thereafter on those aspects being negotiated in the context of the TPP initiative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See e.g. Yu (2014), 1129; Armstrong (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Nayyar (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Presidential Memorandum Regarding Withdrawal of the United States from the Trans-Pacific Partnership Negotiations and Agreement, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2017/01/23/presidential-memorandum-regarding-withdrawal-united-states-trans-pacific.

#### II. THE TPP PRECEDENTS: US-FTAS

The USTR has signed a number of FTAs with developed and developing countries that systematically provide for TRIPS-plus protection for pharmaceutical products in relation to patents, test data and enforcement of the conferred rights. The enhanced protection of pharmaceutical products was a key concern for the USA in the negotiations held in the context of the Uruguay Round of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) that led to the adoption of the TRIPS Agreement. Despite the significant enhancement of the international standards of intellectual property rights (IPRs) protection that the agreement entailed, the pharmaceutical industry from the USA and the EU remain unsatisfied. They aimed at even higher standards of protection. However, it soon became evident that it would not be possible to obtain such higher standards within the relevant multilateral organizations, WTO and the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), where developing countries resisted further increases in IP protections.

Indeed, the pharmaceutical industry expectations were frustrated by the adoption in 2001, by the fourth WTO Ministerial Conference, of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health,<sup>11</sup> which essentially confirmed the WTO members' right to interpret and apply the TRIPS Agreement in a manner that ensures the protection of public health and, in particular, to use the "flexibilities" allowed by that Agreement, such as parallel imports and compulsory licenses. While WTO became an unfriendly forum for an expansion of intellectual property protections, attempts to do so in WIPO also failed. The proposal of a Substantive Patent Law Treaty (SPLT)<sup>12</sup> faced stiff resistance from developing countries and collapsed, even after the proponents drastically narrowed down their ambition and focused only on a few elements of patent law. Moreover, in 2007 developing countries obtained the adoption in WIPO of the "WIPO Development Agenda" that required any new treaty initiative to be looked at through the lens of its likely development impact.<sup>13</sup>

In this scenario, developed countries opted to seek the enhanced protection demanded by the pharmaceutical industry and other constituencies through bilateral or plurilateral trade agreements, where the bargaining position of individual countries is weaker and the promises of market access, or other real or expected trade advantages, make agreements of intellectual property more viable.

Thus, while under the TRIPS Agreement patents must last for 20 years from the date of application, the FTAs promoted by the USA<sup>14</sup> oblige the partner signatory countries to extend the patent term to compensate for "unreasonable" delays beyond a certain period in the procedures for the marketing approval of a medicine as well as in the examination and grant of patent applications.<sup>15</sup> Some FTAs also oblige, inter alia, to grant patents based on "utility"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (20 Nov 2001) WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2 <u>http://www.wto.org/english/thewto\_e/minist\_e/min01\_e/mindecl\_trips\_e.htm accessed 26 Aug 2015</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See e.g. Reichman and Dreyfuss (2007), 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See e.g. WIPO (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> With the exception of the FTAs signed with Peru, Colombia and Panama, which introduced lower standards for pharmaceuticals as a result of a bipartisan agreement reached in June 2007 between the Republican administration and Democratic leaders in the US Congress. See Hong Kong Trade Development Council (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The extension of the patent term required by FTAs is not generally subject to the limitations that can be found under US law where, for instance, the extension to compensate for delays in the marketing approval procedures does not exceed five years and, in no case, should exclusivity exceed fourteen years from the date of approval by

rather than industrial applicability<sup>16</sup> and, importantly, to secure market exclusivity on the basis of the protection of test data required for the marketing approval of pharmaceuticals, generally for five years from the date of such approval in the country where protection is sought.<sup>17</sup> FTAs also require partners to establish a "linkage" between the marketing approval of medicines and patents, thereby granting pharmaceutical companies with rights that, under some FTAs, are also stronger than those available under the US law.<sup>18</sup>

Some studies have shown the negative impact of TRIPS-plus provisions in FTAs. For instance, a study found that the patent term extension would generate in Colombia an increase in pharmaceutical expenditures of US\$329 million and a reduction in pharmaceutical consumption of 7 per cent by 2025.<sup>19</sup> The application of "data exclusivity" in the same country increased expenditures on medicines in 2003-2011 by an estimate of US\$396 million.<sup>20</sup> Studies from other countries show similar results.<sup>21</sup> With respect to the potential impact of the TPP, in particular, a study by Australian and US researchers estimated that. in Vietnam the government would only be able to provide anti-retroviral therapy to 30 per cent of people living with HIV (down from its current rate of 68 per cent) since the cost per person per year of treatment would increase from US\$127 to US\$501 under the US proposal.<sup>22</sup>

The negative impact of TRIPS-plus standards on access to medicines has been found even in developed countries that are not IPRs net exporters, such as in Canada<sup>23</sup> and Australia. In Australia-one of the parties in the TPP negotiations-a government's independent research and advisory body reported that "there had been clear net costs to Australia in adopting IP requirements agreed to in the TRIPS and AUSFTA agreements and recommended that the Government avoid the inclusion of IP in future agreements unless overall net benefits could be demonstrated".<sup>24</sup>

The costs incurred by the smaller partners in FTAs are disproportionately high in relation to the benefits that accrue to pharmaceutical companies.<sup>25</sup> As noted in relation to Australia by the same report mentioned above, given the relative small size of the economy, the FTA locks the country "into a number of inefficiencies which have clear costs to Australia and yet which confer benefits on other countries that are either small or negligible".<sup>26</sup>

The likely impact of the TPP will not be different: the provisions on intellectual property will enhance the market power of the so-called "originator" pharmaceutical companies, and reduce the policy space to implement policies promoting the use of cheaper generic versions.

the Food and Drug Administration (35 USC § 156). In addition, the extension applies to only one patent per product. <sup>16</sup> One implication of this obligation is that under the utility standard patents on the second use of a medicine

<sup>(</sup>which would fail to comply with the industrial applicability standard) may be admissible.

This obligation is clearly TRIPS-plus. See e.g. Correa (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See e.g. Čorrea (2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Fundación Misión Salud/IFARMA (2009), 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Gamba et al. (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See e.g. Kessomboon (2010), 667; IFARMA (2009); Oxfam (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Moir et al. (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ahumada (2009), 129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Australian Government (2013), 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See e.g. Correa (2013), 902.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Australian Government (2013), 32.

#### III. TPP OBJECTIVES IN RESPECT OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Given the previous involvement of the USA with FTAs covering, among other issues, intellectual property rights, there would seem to be nothing unique with the TPP. There are two important differences, however. On the one hand, TPP involves a larger number of countries than any other previously negotiated FTA.<sup>27</sup> On the other, the enhanced protection sought by the USTR reaches in some respects unprecedented levels.

The TPP was conceived by the USA as a means to protect jobs within the country in "IP-intensive" industries—which are deemed to drive approximately 60% of US merchandise exports and a large share of services exports—and to promote such exports throughout the Asia-Pacific region.<sup>28</sup> However, the claims made with regard to the contribution of such industries to job creation "are unsupported by any evidence linking job creation to intellectual property".<sup>29</sup> If there were a correlation between patents and growth, "one would expect the quadrupling of the annual rate of patents granted in the past 30 years to correlate with a speedup in economic growth. In fact, economic growth has significantly slowed in the past 30 years."<sup>30</sup> Boldrin and Levine observed in this regard that "[t]here is no empirical evidence that [patents] serve to increase innovation and productivity, unless productivity is identified with the number of patents awarded—which, as evidence shows, has no correlation with measured productivity."<sup>31</sup>

In accordance with the USTR, the "TPP will provide [...] a robust and balanced intellectual property rights framework".<sup>32</sup> This is probably true with regard to robustness, but is far from credible in relation to "balance". Like other FTAs, the TPP is not driven by "the common goal to achieve a mutually advantageous, balanced regulation of IP among the parties. While these agreements may pursue an overall balance of concessions, they usually do not lead to international IP rules that address the interests of all countries affected."<sup>33</sup>

The USTR sought an agreement that would require the implementation of broader rights than those available in the negotiating countries—including in some respects the United States. While USTR statements allude to the benefit that producers and consumers of those goods and services would obtain in all TPP countries, consumers' and patients' rights are ostensibly outside the agenda of the USTR,<sup>34</sup> whose tangible objective is to satisfy the demands of the so-called "research-based" pharmaceutical industry. The USTR is advised by the Industry Trade Advisory Committee 15 (ITAC 15) composed of companies' representatives, business associations and pro-IPRs coalitions.<sup>35</sup>

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  The USA embarked before in a plurilateral negotiation on intellectual property, which concluded with the signature of the Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA). This agreement, however, was limited to enforcement measures related to intellectual property rights. ACTA was not ratified by the European Union and other negotiating parties and failed to enter into force. See e.g. Roffe and Seuba (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> USTR (2015a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Dourado and Robinson (2014), 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Hong Kong Trade Development Council (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Boldrin and Levine (2013), 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> USTR (2015b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See e.g. Public Citizen (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See US Department of Commerce and USTR (2015).

While the USTR has claimed that it "is committed to providing the public with information on what we are working to achieve through TPP",<sup>36</sup> the draft text had to be treated as confidential by all negotiating parties. The lack of transparency—also absent in other FTA negotiations<sup>37</sup>—limited the capacity of consumers' and patients' organizations to monitor what was being proposed, but did not affect the participation of business organizations. The 18 members of the referred-to ITAC 15, could freely access TPP negotiating documents.<sup>38</sup>

The TPP is unlikely to promote the development of new medicines in the partner countries or even in the USA, since it would do little to change the multiplicity of factors that influence investment in that area. Notably, the rate of innovation in new chemical entities for pharmaceuticals has drastically declined in the last 15 years despite the expansion of patent protection for pharmaceutical products on a global scale,<sup>39</sup> the availability of massive financial resources and advances in science and technology. The TPP provisions, as discussed below, would reduce generic competition, inter alia, by requiring the grant of patents on second medical uses of known products, extending patent terms and preventing the use of test data to obtain marketing approval of generics under "data exclusivity" provisions. Finally, the TPP provisions would not allow for a differential treatment in accordance with the level of development of partner countries. As discussed below, some transitional periods were agreed upon, but these will only help to delay for some time the negative effects on access to medicines of such provisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> USTR (2015b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition (2015). In the context of the negotiations on a Trans-Atlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP), the European Commission has recommended, on 25 November 2014, that the EU's TTIP text proposals be released to the public, and that other information related to TTIP be shared more broadly with all Members of the European Parliament. See European Commission, Communication to the Commission Concerning Transparency in TTIP Negotiations, C(2014) 9052 final, 25 Nov 2014. http://ec.europa.eu/news/2014/docs/c\_2014\_9052\_en.pdf. Accessed 26 August 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> <u>Even</u> members of the US Congress have limited access to negotiating texts, as they "must visit the offices of the United States Trade Representative to review the provisions. They are not allowed to bring anyone with them, nor can they make copies of any documents pertaining to the working agreement". RT (2014); see also New (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Least Developed Countries (LDCs) are still exempted from granting such protection under the TRIPS Agreement (in accordance with Article 66(1)), but many of them allow for such protection.

#### SOME PUBLIC HEALTH-RELATED PROVISIONS IN THE TPP IV.

#### IV.1. **Patentable Subject Matter**

Like the chapters on intellectual property of other FTAs, the TPP quotes some of the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement and introduces TRIPS-plus elements. While some of these elements are common to previous FTAs (with textual variants), the text also contains provisions that have no precedents in previous FTAs.<sup>40</sup>

One of such provisions was contained in Article QQ.E.1 of the May 2014 draft regarding patentable subject matter. The USA and Australia proposed a specific provision that would have required patent offices and courts to admit what have been termed "evergreening" patents, that is, patents covering minor-often trivial-developments around an existing medicine, such as salts, formulations, polymorphs and the like.<sup>41</sup> In accordance with the proposed text (opposed by other negotiating countries):

> a Party may not deny a patent solely on the basis that the product did not result in enhanced efficacy of the known product when the applicant has set forth distinguishing features establishing that the invention is new, involves an inventive step, and is capable of industrial application.

The proposed provision was clearly aimed at countering Section 3(d) of the Indian Patent Act, which stipulates that new forms or some derivatives of known medicines are not "inventions" unless a significant increase in efficacy<sup>42</sup> can be demonstrated. The USTR has regularly cited Section 3(d) among the reasons to keep India on the USTR list of countries whose intellectual property regimes are of concern for the USA, on the argument that it imposes an additional criterion of patentability, beyond those provided for by the TRIPS Agreement.<sup>43</sup> While neither the USA nor any other WTO member has filed a complaint against India on this subject, other countries are adopting the concept introduced by the referred to Section 3(d). For instance, the Philippines incorporated it in its patent law<sup>44</sup> and Thailand introduced a similar standard in recently adopted guidelines for the examination of pharmaceutical patents.<sup>45</sup> Hence, the US concern probably was not only that India could refuse patents filed by US companies, but that the model introduced by Section 3(d) could be replicated in other countries with the same effect.

Evergreening is one of the main strategies used by pharmaceutical companies to block generic competition, which is essential to bring the prices of medicines down and to increase access by the population. Having many patents on secondary developments can provide such companies marketplace power in a scenario "where individual patents become increasingly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> The draft texts of the TPP intellectual property chapter referred to throughout this paper were made public by https://wikileaks.org/tpp-ip2/tpp-ip2-chapter.pdf. Accessed 8 May 2016; http://keionline.org/tpp/11may2015-iptext. Accessed 8 May 2016.

See e.g. Carlos Correa (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> This test has been interpreted as requiring an increase in **therapeutic** efficacy. See e.g. various articles in the special issue of Economic and Political Weekly, Rangnekar (2013).

See e.g. Sampat et al. (2013), 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> An amendment to the Indonesian patent law adopted on 28th July 2016 introduced a similar standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See Chapter 5 "Examination of Applications for Patents of Invention and Petty Patents on Chemical and Pharmaceutical Products" (2014).

less certain in scope and validity".<sup>46</sup> The proposed TPP provision, if adopted, would have deprived TPP parties from the possibility of refusing patents that did not entail a real technical contribution, thereby limiting the policy space currently available under the TRIPS Agreement. The deletion of this provision in the draft of May 2015 and in the final text was a positive step indeed.

Footnote 30 of the adopted text provides that "[i]n determinations regarding inventive step (or nonobviousness), each Party shall consider whether the claimed invention would have been obvious to a person skilled or having ordinary skill in the art having regard to the prior art". This text attempts to establish a standard to assess inventive step/nonobviousness<sup>47</sup> that is absent in the TRIPS Agreement.<sup>48</sup>

In addition, the USA and Australia proposed "to confirm" that "patents shall be available for any new uses or methods of using a known product". This provision aimed at making it mandatory to grant patents on the second use of a known medicine, for instance, in cases where a medicine was administered to treat disease X and it is claimed that it can be applied to disease Y. This is another common form of evergreening that would allow companies to obtain a new monopoly for at least 20 additional years. For instance, the US pharmaceutical company Eli Lilly obtained a patent—which was subsequently revoked by Canadian and US courts—claiming that olanzapine had a marked superiority in the treatment of schizophrenia, and filed at least 29 other Canadian patent applications relating to the same drug, arguing that it had "invented" at least 16 distinct new and surprising uses for the compound, ranging from sexual dysfunction to autism.<sup>49</sup>

The referred to provision was also deleted in the May 2015 draft, but a new text was introduced according to which:

Article 18.37: Subject to paragraphs 3 and 4 and consistent with paragraph 1, each Party confirms that patents are available for inventions claimed as at least one of the following: new uses of a known product, new methods of using a known product, or new processes of using a known product. A Party may limit those new processes to those that do not claim the use of the product as such.

This provision leaves TPP parties the option to choose whether to grant patents on "new uses", "new methods" or "new processes" of using a known product. However, unless it is clarified that such methods or processes should be of a **technical** nature, they may be understood as encompassing patent claims describing how a medicine may be used to address a particular disease. This is the interpretation that will probably be made by the USA, where the new use of a medicine is not patentable as such, but admissible as process-of-use-claims. This means that as long as the claim is drafted so as to cover a process for use rather than the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Wagner (2009), 2135, 2154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> This was one of the main objectives of the failed SPLT initiative, mentioned above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> While the reference to "a person skilled" may give TPP parties certain flexibility, it would have been desirable to refer to an **expert** in the field. As stated by the US Supreme Court in KSR v. Teleflex, parties may consider that "[a] person of ordinary skill is also a person of ordinary creativity, not an automaton", see KSR Int'l Co. v. Teleflex, Inc., 550 U.S. 398 (2007). http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/06pdf/04-1350.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2016. The Indian Revised Draft Guidelines for Examination of Patent Applications in the Field of Pharmaceuticals state in this regard that "the person skilled in the art [...] is not a dullard and has certain modicum of creativity". http://ipindia.nic.in/iponew/draft\_Pharma\_Guidelines\_12August2014.pdf. Accessed 30 June 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> See e.g. Correa (2015).

use as such, it would be admissible as subject matter of a patent.<sup>50</sup> This is probably what the USA aimed at with the adopted text.

In accordance with article 18.37.3(a) of the TPP, parties may exclude from patentability therapeutic methods for the treatment of humans and animals. It may be argued that a claim on the use of a medicine is equivalent to a therapeutic method and that, therefore, that exception would allow TPP parties to exclude patents on the new use of a medicine. This reading, however, may be deemed unviable under the interpretation principle of "effectiveness" ("effet utile"), which means that amongst several possible interpretations the one will prevail which best guarantees the practical effect of all provisions in the treaty, including article 18.37.2.<sup>51</sup>

It should also be noted that the carefully worded article 18.37.2 refers to "inventions claimed as" a new use, method or process. This seems to exclude the possibility of considering that, in essence, the claimed invention is a therapeutic method, **if the claim is drafted in the form of a method or process**.<sup>52</sup> In other words, the adopted text does not seem to indicate that the USA abandoned the target of forcing all TPP parties to grant patents in respect of the new use of a medicine. The intention to achieve that target is evident in article 18.53.1(a) which refers to "during the term of an applicable patent claiming the approved product or its **approved method of use**" (emphasis added).

Many countries—such as India, Argentina, Andean Community members—refuse to grant second use patents, as they have no industrial applicability and are equivalent to methods of treatment. If TPP parties were forced to accept such claims, Peru (a member of the Andean Community) would be bound not only to introduce legislation in violation of the applicable regional law,<sup>53</sup> but to abandon a sound policy that prevents one popular form of evergreening.

The admissibility of second use patents would have been facilitated if a proposal of the USA, joined by Australia and Singapore, would have been accepted. In draft Article QQ.E.10 they proposed—with the opposition of other negotiating parties—to require that a patent should be granted if the claimed invention was "useful". While a new use of a known medicine would not meet the standard of industrial applicability since it lacks technical effect, it may be deemed useful or having a "specific, substantial and credible utility" (as also proposed by the USA).

Another controversial area in TPP negotiations has been the patentability of diagnostic, therapeutic, and surgical methods for the treatment of humans or animals. These methods can be excluded from patentability in accordance with the TRIPS Agreement and, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> See, e.g. Correa (2012), 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> For the application of this principle in WTO jurisprudence see, e.g., WTO (2014), para. I.3.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Typically claims on the new use of a medicine are drafted in the USA as "a method of treating X in a patient, comprising administration of a therapeutically effective amount of compound Y". The referred to provision would oblige parties to grant a patent if a new use were claimed in this form; alternatively, TPP parties may accept what are known as "Swiss claims" ("Use of substance or composition X for the treatment of disease Y"), but might not escape from the obligation to grant patents relating to new uses of a medicine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See Article 21 of the Andean Community, Decision No. 486 Establishing the Common Regime on Intellectual Property (14 Sept 2000) which stipulates that "[p]roducts or processes that are already patented and included in the state of the art within the meaning of Article 16 of this Decision may not form the subject matter of a new patent owing to the fact of having a use ascribed to them different from that originally provided for in the first patent".

fact, most countries in the world (including the TPP negotiating parties, except the USA and Australia) do so.<sup>54</sup> There are certainly good public health reasons for that exclusion, as the monopolization of such methods may prevent or increase the cost of the application of needed treatments, even if no patented products are involved.

The leaked draft text of May 2014 showed that the positions on this subject have evolved. Notably the USA shifted in that text from an earlier proposal requiring absolute protection to one conditional upon the use, as part of the method, of "a machine, manufacture, or composition of matter". Interestingly, the opposition by other negotiating parties to this proposal was quite compact. The suggested condition was not tied to the use of a **patented** machine or material; hence, patentability would have to be secured if any object, whether or not in the public domain, were used to implement the method. Doctors and surgeons could have been deemed liable of patent infringement unless they treated patients with their bare hands, what is clearly impossible in the case of surgery. Under the US law, infringement can only be established if the patented method requires the use of a patented object. The draft TPP, hence, was more restrictive in this respect than US law.<sup>55</sup>

The draft of May 2015 and the adopted text, as noted, shows another substantial change in the negotiating positions as Article 18.37.3(a) would allow TPP parties to exclude altogether diagnostic, therapeutic, and surgical methods from patentability, in line with the exclusion permissible under the TRIPS Agreement.

#### **IV.2.** Opposition and Revocation

Initially, the USA sought to prevent TPP parties from allowing for procedures of pre-grant opposition in patent procedures. The elimination of a provision to that effect<sup>56</sup> is one of the few successes of the negotiating countries that oppose a drastic increase in intellectual property protection through the TPP.

The attempt to ban pre-grant oppositions was another example of an obligation beyond US law, which provides for such opposition.<sup>57</sup>

The USA proposed in the initial draft TPP to limit the grounds that may be invoked to invalidate or revoke a patent.<sup>58</sup> This "represented an attempt to overturn a specific issue negotiated and rejected in the TRIPS negotiations".<sup>59</sup> The TRIPS Agreement does not determine, in effect, what grounds can or cannot be articulated. It only requires that an opportunity be given for a judicial review of a decision in that respect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Existing FTAs, including NAFTA, permit parties to exclude the patentability of such methods.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> See Public Citizen (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Article QQ.E.4 "Opposition to Grant of Patent"—as proposed by New Zealand, Canada, Singapore, Chile and Malaysia—states that "Each Party shall provide a procedure for third persons to oppose the grant of a patent, either before or after the grant of a patent, or both."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> The patent opposition procedures were reinforced in the USA by the "America Invents Act" in 2011. Other examples of proposed obligations inconsistent with US law are the lack of limitation for damages in case of infringement of patents on biologicals not disclosed to competitors, and in the case of use of patents and other intellectual property rights by or for the US government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Article QQ.E.3: [US: "Without prejudice to Article 5A (3) of the Paris Convention,] Each Party shall provide that a patent may be cancelled, revoked or nullified only on grounds that would have justified a refusal to grant the patent [...].".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Flynn (2012), 105, 163.

Patent applicants may use fraudulent and other inequitable practices to obtain patents. The USA seems to admit that a TPP Party could provide that fraud, misrepresentation, or inequitable conduct may be the basis for cancelling, revoking, or nullifying a patent, or for holding a patent unenforceable (Article 18.39)—in line, in the latter circumstances, with the US legislation.

Conferred patents are often abused, for instance, through strategic litigation aiming at delaying the market entry of generic products. Despite the fact that such behaviour has been found and condemned in the USA,<sup>60</sup> the USTR opposed a draft provision in the TPP that would have allowed Parties to cancel, revoke or nullify a patent on the basis that it is used in a manner determined to be anti-competitive.

Interestingly, some of the negotiating parties attempted – without success – to reconfirm the right recognized under Article 5(A)(3) of the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, which stipulates that a patent may be revoked in cases of abuses, such as lack of working of the protected invention, where the grant of compulsory licenses has not been sufficient to prevent the said abuses and the proceedings for the forfeiture or revocation are instituted after the expiration of two years from the grant of the first compulsory license.

#### **IV.3.** Exceptions

Articles 30 and 31 of the TRIPS Agreement allow for some important "flexibilities" regarding patent protection, as they permit WTO members to provide for exceptions to the exclusive rights and for the grant of compulsory licenses, respectively.

The text of the TPP reproduces Article 30 of said Agreement without too much apparent contention; hence it does not seem to have been an attempt to narrow down the available exceptions. Some negotiating countries (New Zealand, Canada, Singapore, Chile and Malaysia) had proposed, however, to specify some admissible exceptions (not expressly mentioned but clearly allowable under the TRIPS Agreement)<sup>61</sup> regarding the so-called "regulatory review exception" (which allows generic companies to request the marketing approval of a medicine before the expiry of the relevant patent),<sup>62</sup> and the "experimentation exception".<sup>63</sup> Although specific provisions on these exceptions may not be strictly necessary, they may help to confirm the policy space available under national laws.

The draft of May 2015 did not refer to the "experimentation exception" but contained two options and several formulations regarding the "regulatory review exception". This suggested a general acceptance of the inclusion of a clause on the matter. This could not be a major problem for the USA, which introduced this latter exception in 1984. Interestingly, Article 18.49 established a mandatory exception: "Without prejudice to the scope of, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> See e.g. the case brought by the US Federal Trade Commission against Bristol Myers Squibb (information available at http://www.ftc.gov/opa/2003/03/bms.htm. Accessed 26 August 2015). See also Federal Trade Commission (2002). See also European Commission (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See WTO, Panel, Canada–Patent Protection of Pharmaceutical Products, 17 Mar 2000, WT/DS114/R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> This exception is generally known as "Bolar exception".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> The proponents of this clause suggest to clarify that "[f]or the purposes of this Article, experimental purposes may include, but need not be limited to, determining how the invention works, determining the scope of the invention, determining the validity of the claims, or seeking an improvement of the invention (for example, determining new properties, or new uses, of the invention)".

consistent with, Article 18.40 (Exceptions), each Party **shall** adopt or maintain a regulatory review exception for pharmaceutical products". <sup>64</sup> Footnote 49 further clarifies that "nothing prevents a Party from providing that regulatory review exceptions apply for purposes of regulatory reviews in that Party, in another country or both".

Australia proposed (in the draft of May 2015) to introduce a provision (Article QQ.E.4.2) stating that:

Nothing in this Chapter shall limit a Party's rights and obligations under Article 31 of the TRIPS Agreement or any amendment thereto.

Concerns were raised regarding whether the TPP would subject compulsory licenses to the three-step test of Article 30 of the TRIPS Agreement, if the proposed provision confirming the application of Article 31 were not adopted.<sup>65</sup> These concerns are grounded on the notion that compulsory licenses constitute one type of exception<sup>66</sup> and that attempts could be made to subject such licenses to the application of those tests. The key question in this regard was whether the lack of reference to said Article 31 could restrain rather than expand the policy space to use compulsory licenses, one of the critical "flexibilities" in that Agreement.<sup>67</sup> The adopted text incorporated a slightly modified version of the Australian proposal.<sup>68</sup>

#### **IV.4.** Exhaustion of Rights

A similar question may be raised in relation to the right recognized in Article 6 of the TRIPS Agreement to decide whether and how to apply the doctrine of exhaustion of rights, under which parallel imports may be allowed. It may be argued that the lack of any reference to the subject in the TPP leaves the applicability of that article untouched. Chile, however, suggested to include a provision—apparently not supported by other negotiating parties—stating that:

[t]he Parties are encouraged to establish international exhaustion of patent rights. For this purpose, the registration of a patent shall not entitle its holder to prevent third parties from making, using, offering for sale, selling or importing a product protected by that patent, which has been put in the market in any country by the patent holder or with his consent.

If accepted, this provision would have explicitly legitimized the principle of international exhaustion under the TPP, which is fully admissible under the TRIPS Agreement. The TPP text, however, did not incorporate this proposal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> See Love (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> See footnote 7 to Article 31 of the TRIPS Agreement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> In fact, it is unclear why certain provisions of the TRIPS Agreement—which is generally applicable to the TPP negotiating parties—are reproduced in the TPP (as well as in many existing FTAs) while other provisions are not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> "Article 18.41: The Parties understand that nothing in this Chapter limits a Party's rights and obligations under Article 31 of the TRIPS Agreement, any waiver or any amendment to that Article that the Parties accept".

#### IV.5. Data Exclusivity

Like other FTAs promoted by the USA, the TPP includes provisions that submit test data (that is, the results of pre-clinical and clinical studies) to a regime of exclusivity.<sup>69</sup> As examined elsewhere<sup>70</sup>, data exclusivity is not mandated by the TRIPS Agreement, whose Article 39(3) only requires the protection of such data against unfair competition. While most TPP negotiating countries have already introduced data exclusivity as a result of US unilateral actions<sup>71</sup> or participation in prior FTAs, the USTR aimed at ensuring that such a regime is fully recognized in the TPP. Its proposals went beyond, however, what has been introduced in prior FTAs, as it sought to expand data exclusivity to also cover biological products<sup>72</sup> and thereby exclude the use of or reliance on that data by third parties for 12 years,<sup>73</sup> that is, seven years more than in the case of non-biological medicines.<sup>74</sup> The US also proposed and secured a three years period of data exclusivity in cases where new clinical information for known medicines are submitted.<sup>75</sup>

It is worth noting that the proposed twelve-year term of protection for biological products introduced by the US Affordable Care Act, has been criticized by the US Administration, which has suggested reducing it to seven years in order to substantially diminish the cost of biologics for the health programmes. The "Fiscal Year 2014 Budget of the U.S. Government" referred to the impact of high-cost biologics and patent evergreening practices as follows:

The Budget also proposes to accelerate access to affordable generic biologics by modifying the length of exclusivity on brand name biologics. Beginning in 2014, this proposal would award brand biologic manufacturers seven years of exclusivity, rather than 12 years under current law, and prohibit additional periods of exclusivity for brand biologics due to minor changes in product formulations, a practice often referred to as "evergreening." The proposal will result in \$ 3 billion in savings over 10 years to Federal health programs including Medicare and Medicaid.

Paradoxically, in the TPP negotiations the USTR—an agency also belonging to the Executive Office of the US President— energetically pursued the twelve-year term of protection. One possible explanation is the fact that, in practice, the USA does not consider itself bound to introduce any legislative change in its national law to implement obligations in the FTAs that go beyond such law. Thus, the USA has never implemented the administrative linkage system introduced by Article 15.10.2 of the FTA with the Central American countries and the Dominican Republic (DR-CAFTA).<sup>76</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Significantly, eight other negotiating countries opposed to the US proposal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> See e.g. Correa (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> As it was the case of Australia in 1998, following a threat of trade sanctions under the special Section 301 of the US Trade Act of 1974, 19 USC Ch 12.

 $<sup>^{72}</sup>$  On the potential scope and implications of the protection sought by the USA, see Smith (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See Executive Office of the President of the United States (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> The minimum period of protection finally imposed for biological products is eight years, as clarified in footnote 53 of the TPP text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> The case of colchicine, a drug known in the USA since the 19th century on which new clinical trials were conducted—for just one week—led to a 50-fold increase in the price from US\$0.09 to US\$4.85. See e.g. Kesselheim and Solomon (2010), 2045.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> See e.g. Correa (2008).

Although test data are to be protected under the TRIPS Agreement and some prior FTAs to the extent that they are **undisclosed**, the draft TPP required to create exclusive rights even when such data have been disclosed. In the May 2015 text (Article QQ.E.16) and the finally adopted text (Article 18.47) a reference was made, however, to "undisclosed" test or other data.

In accordance with the data exclusivity provision,<sup>77</sup> pharmaceutical companies will be able to claim data exclusivity not only in respect of a "new pharmaceutical product" but also in respect of a "similar" product, an ambiguous concept that may further expand the reach of the protection sought. The different options contained in the draft of May 2015 suggested that this was an area where getting consensus became very problematic.

The US proposal contained language that appeared to temper the possible negative impact of data exclusivity on access to medicines. It stated that:

[...] a Party may take measures to protect public health in accordance with:

(a) the Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2) (the "Declaration");

(b) any waiver of any provision of the TRIPS Agreement granted by WTO Members in accordance with the WTO Agreement to implement the Declaration and in force between the Parties; and

(c) any amendment of the TRIPS Agreement to implement the Declaration that enters into force with respect to the Parties.

However, this language has little or no practical effect. It would not limit in any manner the obligations imposed by the agreement. The referred to Doha Declaration only confirms the flexibilities allowed by the TRIPS Agreement in relation to public health matters (such as compulsory licenses and parallel imports), but it is unlikely to provide a sufficient legal basis to derogate from the obligations established by the TPP.

Although some TPP negotiating countries such as Canada, Singapore and Chile had already introduced some form of data exclusivity, they sponsored with other negotiating parties an alternative (contained in Article QQ.E.XX.4 of the draft of May 2014) to the US proposal based on the TRIPS standard, that is, the protection of such data against unfair competition only, without recognition of exclusive rights. Wording was also proposed by a number of negotiating countries (opposed by the USA and Japan) in order to make data protection conditional upon submission of an application for marketing approval within a period (12 or 18 months) from the date of the marketing approval in any country. This would have been a logical limitation to the acquisition of rights under a data exclusivity provision.

#### IV.6. Linkage

Like in other FTAs, the USA was keen to introduce in the TPP an additional measure of protection for pharmaceutical companies: a ban on drug regulatory agencies from granting marketing approval to a drug when there are patents in force in relation to it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> The adopted text would not prevent a generic company to apply for market approval before the expiry of the data exclusivity period. Some authors call "market exclusivity" (rather than "data exclusivity") a regime that allows for this possibility (Shaikh, 2016, p. 6).

The USTR and the US pharmaceutical industry's justification for seeking linkage provisions is the prevention of the infringement that may occur if generic versions of a patented product were approved for commercialization. This argument overlooks the fact that most patents do not cover the drugs, as such, but different forms thereof, including pharmaceutical formulations and combinations, and that the role of drug regulatory agencies is to protect public health, not to take part in private disputes about intellectual property protection. The development implications of linkage provisions may be substantial, as they may unduly restrain generic competition that reduces drug prices and increases access to medicines.<sup>78</sup>

The linkage system proposed in the May 2014 draft of the TPP mirrored the US system whereby an "automatic" delay for the grant of marketing approval of a generic product could be sought by the patent owner (Article QQ.E.17(a)(i)). Unlike the US system, however, there was no requirement on the patent owners to register the patents they intended to assert (as is the case with the "Orange Book" in the USA) nor any limitation on the subject matter covered by such patents.<sup>79</sup> The negotiating text in the draft of May 2015 showed significant divergences amongst the negotiating parties, and a shift towards an administrative form of "linkage" under which the drug regulatory authority is bound to reject an application for marketing approval when a product is subject to a patent.<sup>80</sup> This is an issue of particular concern. In particular, if evergreening of pharmaceutical patents through the protection of new forms or uses of known medicines is allowed, patent owners may block the marketing approval of a generic product well beyond the expiry of the basic patent on the active ingredient.

Unlike other provisions on linkage, such as those contained in the referred to DR-CAFTA, the TPP does not mandate a purely administrative linkage regime (Article 18.53), under which the drug regulatory authority is required to refuse a marketing approval even in the absence of a judicial decision or a request by a patent owner. In any case, the impact on the affordability of drugs—even if the active ingredient is off-patent—may be substantial.

#### **IV.7.** Extension of the Patent Term

The TPP contains another worrying element, which is generally present in FTAs: the extension of the patent term in order to compensate for "unreasonable" delays in the grant of a patent or in the marketing approval of a pharmaceutical product. Such extensions represent an essentially unfair and dysfunctional mechanism, as it penalizes the public with a longer monopoly for the failure of the administration to process patent or marketing approval applications within a reasonable time, and puts pressure on the authorities to make decisions without sufficient consideration of the reasons that may lead to the refusal of an application. The applicability of the extension based on marketing approval delays to pharmaceuticals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Correa (2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> For instance, in 2003 a requirement was introduced in the US law to ensure that only relevant polymorphs are listed in the Orange Book. See Pohl (2004), 219.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Footnotes 126 and 128 to the proposed text, however, could be interpreted—despite the reference to "measures in its marketing approval process"—as allowing a party to satisfy its "linkage" obligation by making available judicial provisional injunctions, and to consider that the "consent or acquiescence of the patent owner" has been given when he has failed to avail itself of the opportunities afforded by administrative or judicial measures to prevent the marketing approval of a generic product.

only, is an indicator of the influence that the large pharmaceutical industry had in the negotiating process.

Significantly, the extension of the patent term required under the TPP is not subject to the limitations that can be found, for instance, under US law where the extension to compensate for delays in the marketing approval procedures should not exceed five years and, in no case, should exclusivity exceed 14 years from the date of approval by the Food and Drug Administration; in addition, the extension applies to only one patent per product (35 U.S.C. § 156). In the case of extensions due to delays by the patent office, the term of a patent has to be adjusted for each day beyond a period of three years.<sup>81</sup>

While Article 18.48 on "Patent Term Adjustment for Unreasonable Curtailment" states that "in implementing the obligations of this Article, each Party may provide for conditions and limitations provided that the Party continues to give effect to this Article" (para. 3), this clause fails to establish concrete limits as provided for under US law. In addition, the extension in the case of delays in processing a patent application is not subject to the same flexibility regarding implementation (Article 18.46).

#### **IV.8.** The Value of Pharmaceutical Patents

In addition to the substantive standards on intellectual property contained in the TPP that may affect access to medicines, a proposed chapter was leaked in 2011 that would have mandated TPP countries to ensure pharmaceutical companies the right to appeal decisions on the reimbursement prices of medicines, if they considered that the prices paid did not "appropriately recognize the value" of particular pharmaceutical patents.<sup>82</sup> The proposed text also required TPP governments to recognize an "increased amount" of reimbursement based on evidence of "superior safety, efficacy or quality". These provisions, if accepted,<sup>83</sup> would have narrowed down the policy space that governments have to set limits to the prices of patented drugs. They would have clearly run counter to the principle enshrined in Article 8(1) of the TRIPS Agreement, which allows WTO members to adopt measures necessary to protect public health.<sup>84</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> See, e.g. Drexel and Lee (2013), 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Similar provisions can be found in the US FTAs with Australia and South Korea.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> The TPP added other obligations, such as making public the composition of the reimbursement committees and to justify any decision made on reimbursement prices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Intellectual property rights would also be protected, under the TPP investment chapter Article II.1, as "investments" including, in particular, the possibility for a right-owner to directly sue a state in case of an alleged violation of such rights, Section B. An example is the Eli Lilly claim against Canada under the investment chapter in NAFTA. See, e.g. Carlos Correa (forthcoming).

#### V. TRANSITIONAL PERIODS

In view of the resistance by many TPP negotiating parties to some of the US proposals that may have a direct impact on public health, the USA opted to explore a strategy that succeeded in the TRIPS negotiations: to introduce transitional periods for countries with lower per capita income.<sup>85</sup> The proposal however provided for lower standards in relation to some issues only, such as data exclusivity, patent term extension and patent linkage. Such standards were based on the so-called "May 10" agreement between the House Democrats and the Bush Administration in 2007, which allowed Peru, Colombia and Panama to consider patent term extension for pharmaceuticals as optional and to replace the "linkage" mechanism by one offering patent owners the means to defend against infringement expeditiously. However, this special treatment would have only applied in the case of the TPP parties during the transition periods.

Initially, the USA apparently proposed to establish a threshold based on the GNI per capita as used by the World Bank to classify countries, which would have benefitted countries with a per capita GNI below US\$12,736. As a result, Peru, Mexico, Vietnam and Malaysia would have been eligible for the transition periods, <sup>86</sup> while Chile would be excluded. This proposal was finally replaced by fixed transition periods (subject to a non-roll-back provision)<sup>87</sup> that are different for the various negotiating parties, an option that would seem preferable to the pharmaceutical industry, as it provides more certainty about the date on which the TPP obligations will enter into force.

As illustrated by the experience with the transition periods under the TRIPS Agreement, the relief they may bring is likely to be insufficient. At the end of those periods—which are arbitrarily fixed—the conditions in the beneficiary countries may have not changed at all or to the extent necessary to make the application of the required standards of protection more tolerable. The case of the Least Developed Countries (LDCs), for instance, shows that their economic conditions deteriorated after the WTO agreements were adopted, and it is uncertain whether they would have sufficiently improved at the time the new extension of the transition period expires on 1st January 2033.<sup>88</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Another approach attempted by the USA has been the establishment of what has been termed an "access window", according to which originator pharmaceutical companies would get stronger protection if they applied for marketing approval of a medicine in a second TPP country within a given period after the first marketing approval was obtained.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> However, given the current level of the per capita GNI of some of these countries, such as Malaysia and Mexico, any transition period may have already expired for them by the time the TPP comes into force. <sup>87</sup> See Article 18.83.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> The most rational approach—rejected by developed countries at the Council for TRIPS—would certainly have been to extend the transition period until a country ceases to be an LDC.

#### VI. CONCLUSIONS

The TPP follows the tradition of previous FTAs signed by the USA, but with even higher levels of protection for pharmaceuticals. Despite the enormous differences in the economic wealth of the negotiating parties, the USA sought and succeeded in imposing a "one-size-fits-all" approach (that may be only temporarily tempered by differential transition periods) that is likely to aggravate the problems of access to medicines that those countries face, especially for highly priced biologicals. The resistance by most negotiating parties to the maximalist protections sought by the USA and other developed countries, points to concerns about the impact that those protections may have in terms of medicines' costs and access by patients.

The TPP provides a paradigmatic example of international law-making led by the interests of a business group, adopted by a government as an essential component of its own agenda. The rights of patients to get access to needed treatments<sup>89</sup> are systematically overlooked by the proponents of levels of protection that are TRIPS-plus and that would most probably be rejected if submitted for negotiation in multilateral fora, such as the WTO. Like in previous FTAs, the asymmetric bargaining position of the negotiating parties, and unjustified expectations about **other** trade benefits that the TPP may bring about, would remain the only explanations for the acceptance of intellectual property protections aimed at satisfying the pharmaceutical industry's relentless demands of broader and longer monopolistic rights.

While in the course of the negotiations some of the TRIPS-plus provisions that may have a negative impact on access to medicines have been deleted or amended, many highly problematic provisions remain. Given the asymmetries in the negotiating power of the parties involved, the TPP if finally ratified and implemented, will represent another step in the process of ratcheting up intellectual property protection for the benefit of a small (but powerful) group of pharmaceutical companies, to the detriment of millions of patients in need of treatment in the TPP parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> There is a vast literature on the implications on intellectual property on the fundamental right to health and on ways of realizing the latter through balanced regimes. See e.g. Velásquez et al. (2012).

#### REFERENCES

- Ahumada C. (2009). The Impact TRIPS and Free Trade Agreements Have on Access to Medicines: The Cases of Canada and Columbia. *Studies in Political Economy*, 84:129– 154. <u>http://spe.library.utoronto.ca/index.php/spe/article/view/11189/8083</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Armstrong S. (2011). China's Participation in the Trans-Pacific Partnership. <u>http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2011/12/11/china-participation-in-the-trans-pacific-partnership/</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Australian Government (2013). Pharmaceutical Patents Review. Draft Report. http://www.ip-watch.org/weblog/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Pharmaceutical-Patent-Review-Draft-Report.pdf. Accessed 26 Aug 2015
- Boldrin M., Levine D.K. (2013). The Case Against Patents. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 27:3–22.
- Mary E. Burfisher., Dyck J., Meade B. et al. (2014). Agriculture in the Trans-Pacific Partnership.
  <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/45286/49377\_err176\_summary.pdf?v=41942</u>. Accessed 28 July 2017.
- Correa C. (2008). Expanding Patent Rights in Pharmaceuticals: The Linkage Between Patents and Drug Registration. In Weinstock Netanel N. (ed.) *The Development Agenda. Global Intellectual Property and Developing Countries*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 247–263.
- Correa C. (2011). Test Data Protection: Rights Conferred Under the TRIPS Agreement and Some Effects of TRIPS-Plus Standards. In Dreyfuss RC, and Strandburg KJ, (eds.) *The Law and Theory of Trade Secrecy*. A Handbook of Contemporary Research. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 568–590.
- Correa C. ed. (2012). A Guide to Pharmaceutical Patents. South Centre, Geneva.
- Correa C. (2013). High Costs, Negligible Benefits from Intellectual Property Provisions in FTAs. *International Review of Intellectual Property and Competition Law*, 44:902–905.
- Correa C. (2014). Tackling the Proliferation of Patents: How to Avoid Undue Limitations to Competition and the Public Domain. In Autenne A, Cassiers V, Strowel S (eds.) *Droit, économie et valeurs. Hommage à Bernard Remiche.* Larcier, Bruxelles, 323–350.
- Correa C. (2015). Modelling Patent Law through Investment Agreements, in *Investment Treaties. Views and Experiences from Developing Countries*, South Centre, Geneva.

- Descheemaeker S. (2012–2013). India, Pharmacy of the Developing World. IP, Trade and the Access to Medicine. *Jura Falconis*, 49(3):543–570. https://www.law.kuleuven.be/jura/art/49n3/descheemaeker.pdf. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Dourado E., Robinson I. (2014). How Many Jobs Does Intellectual Property Create? Mercatus Center, George Mason University, http://mercatus.org/publication/how-manyjobs-does-intellectual-property-create. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Drexel J., Lee N. eds. (2013). Pharmaceutical Innovation, Competition and Patent Law. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing, 124.
- European Commission (2009). Pharmaceutical Sector Inquiry Preliminary Report: Fact Sheet "Prices, Time to Generic Entry and Consumer Savings". http://ec.europa.eu/competition/sectors/pharmaceuticals/inquiry/fact\_sheet\_1.pdf. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Executive Office of the President of the United States (2014). Fiscal Year 2014 Budget of the U.S. Government. <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action?collectionCode=BUDGET&browsePath=Fiscal+Year+2014&isCollapsed=false&leafLevelBrowse=false&isDocumentResults=true&ycord=0. Accessed 28 July 2017.</u>
- Federal Trade Commission (2002). Generic Drug Entry Prior to Patent Expiration. FTC Study. <u>http://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/documents/reports/generic-drug-entry-prior-patent-expiration-ftc-study/genericdrugstudy\_0.pdf</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Flynn S.M., Baker B., Kaminski M. et al (2012). The U.S. Proposal for an Intellectual Property Chapter in the Trans-Pacific Partnership Agreement. *American University International Law Review*, 28:105-205. <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=2185402</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Fundación Misión Salud/IFARMA (2009). Impacto de la Propuesta Europea en el Acuerdo de Asociación Can-Ue Sobre el Acceso a Medicamentos en Colombia. <u>http://web.ifarma.org/images/files/impacto-ada-can-ue-sobre-medicamentos-encolombia1.pdf</u>. Accessed 20 Aug 2016.
- Gamba M.E.C., Buenaventura F.R., Serrano M.D.V. (2012). Impacto de 10 Años de Protección de Datos en Medicamentos en Colombia. <u>http://web.ifarma.org/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=70:serie-buscando-remedio-qimpacto-de-10-anos-de-proteccion-de-datos-en-medicamentos-en-colombiaq&catid=22:buscando-remedio</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Hong Kong Trade Development Council (2007). Congress, Administration Announce Trade Policy Agreement. <u>http://info.hktdc.com/alert/us0711a.htm</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- IFARMA (2009). Impact of the EU-Andean Trade Agreements on Access to Medicines in Peru. <u>http://haieurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/12/11-Nov-2009-Report-IFARMA-Impact-Study-on-EU-Andean-Trade-Agreement-in-Peru-EN.pdf</u>. Accessed 28 July 2017.

- Kesselheim A.S., Solomon D.H. (2010). Incentive for drug development. The curious case of Colchicine. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 326:2045-2047. <u>http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp1003126</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Kessomboon N., Limpananont J., Kulsomboon V., et al (2010). Impact on Access to Medicines from TRIPS-Plus: A Case Study of Thai-US FTA. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 41:667–677.
- Krugman P. (2014). No Big Deal. *The New York Times*, 28 February 2014. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2014/02/28/opinion/krugman-no-big-deal.html</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Love J. (2014). New Leak of TPP Consolidated Text on Intellectual Property Provides Details of Pandering to Drug Companies and Publishers. Knowledge Ecology International. <u>http://www.keionline.org/node/2108</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Martin P. (2014). Ex-WTO Chief Tips Pacts Are on the Way Out. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 28 May 2014. <u>http://www.smh.com.au/business/exwto-chief-tips-pacts-are-on-the-way-out-20140527-392fq.html#ixzz32w6hVKzt</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition (2015). Principles for Intellectual Property Provisions in Bilateral and Regional Agreements. <u>http://www.ip.mpg.de/fileadmin/ipmpg/content/forschung\_aktuell/06\_principles\_for\_inte\_llectua/principles\_for\_ip\_provisions\_in\_bilateral\_and\_regional\_agreements\_final1.pdf</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Moir H., Tenni B., Gleeson D. et al (2014). Assessing the Impact of Alternative Patent Systems on the Cost of Health Care: The TPPA and HIV Treatment in Vietnam. Conference Paper Presented at the Nov. 27–29 Asia-Pacific Innovation Conference at the University of Technology, Sydney. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270511439 Assessing the impact of alterna</u> <u>tive\_patent\_systems\_on\_the\_cost\_of\_health\_care\_The\_TPPA\_and\_HIV\_treatment\_in\_</u> <u>Vietnam.</u> Accessed 8 May 2016.
- Nayyar D. (2013). *Catch Up. Developing Countries in the World Economy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- New W. (2013). "Wikileaks" Release of TPP Chapter on IP Blows Open Secret Trade Negotiation. <u>http://www.ip-watch.org/2013/11/13/wikileaks-release-of-tpp-chapter-on-ip-blows-open-secret-trade-negotiation/</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Oxfam (2007). All Costs, No Benefits: How TRIPS-Plus Intellectual Property Rules in the US-Jordan FTA Affect Access to Medicines. Oxfam Briefing Paper 102. <u>http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/all%20costs,%20no%20benefits.pdf.</u> Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Pohl M. (2004). Orange Book Patent Listing: The Rationale and Economic Impact of the New Rule. *Journal of Generic Medicines*, 1:219–227.

- Public Citizen (2013). Medical Procedure Patents in the TPP: A Comparative Perspective on the Highly Unpopular U.S. Proposal. <u>http://www.citizen.org/documents/MedicalProceduresMemo\_final%20draft.pdf</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Public Citizen (2015). TPP and Access to Medicines. <u>http://www.citizen.org/more-about-trans-pacific-partnership-agreement</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Rangnekar D., et al. (2013). The Glivec Precedent. *Economic & Political Weekly*, 48 (32): 39-57.
- Reichman J.H., Dreyfuss R.C. (2007). Harmonization Without Consensus: Critical Reflections on Drafting a Substantive Patent Law Treaty. *Duke Law Journal*, 57:85–130. http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1330&context=dlj&sei-redir=1&referer=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2Fsearch%3Fclient%3Dsafari%26rls%3Den%26q%3Dreichman%2Bsubstantive%2Bpatent%2Blaw%2Btreaty%26ie%3DUTF-8%26oe%3DUTF-8#search=%22reichman%20substantive%20patent%20law%20treaty%22. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Roffe P., Seuba X. (2014). *The ACTA and the Plurilateral Enforcement Agenda: Genesis and Aftermath.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- RT (2014). Industry Powers with Access to TPP Plans Lavish Money on Congress. http://rt.com/usa/congress-tpp-corporate-donations-802/. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Sampat B.N., Shadlen KC, Amin TM (2012). Challenges to India's Pharmaceutical Patent Laws. *Science*, 337:414–415.
- Shaikh, O. (2016). Access to medicine versus test data exclusivity. Safeguarding flexibilities under international law. Munich: Springer.
- Smith S. (2015). TWN, Preliminary Analysis of Biologics Exclusivity. <u>http://www.twn.my/title2/wto.info/2015/ti150808.htm</u>. Accessed 8 May 2016.
- Smith Y. (2014). The Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership: Review of Economic Blogs. <u>http://www.nakedcapitalism.com/2014/07/transatlantic-trade-investment-partnership-review-economic-blogs.html</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- UK Commission on Intellectual Property (2002). Integrating Intellectual Property Rights and Development Policy. <u>http://www.iprcommission.org/graphic/documents/final\_report.htm</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- USTR (2013). 2013 Special 301 Report. https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/05012013%202013%20Special%20301%20Report.pdf. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.

- USTR (2015a). Trans-Pacific Partnership: Summary of U.S. Objectives. <u>http://www.ustr.gov/tpp/Summary-of-US-objectives</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- USTR (2015b). Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP). <u>https://ustr.gov/tpp/Summary-of-US-objectives</u>. Accessed 20 Aug. 2016.
- US Department of Commerce, USTR (2015). Industry Trade Advisory Committee on Intellectual Property Rights ITAC15. <u>http://www.trade.gov/itac/committees/itac15.asp</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.
- Velásquez G., Correa C., Seuba X. (2012). Intellectual Property Rights, Research and Development, Human Rights and Access to Medicines. An Annotated and Selected Bibliography. South Centre.
- Wagner R.P. (2009). Understanding Patent Quality Mechanisms. University of *Pennsylvania Law Review*, 157:2135–2173.
- WTO (2013). Appellate Body Repertory of Reports and Awards 1995–2013. 5th ed. <u>https://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/dispu\_e/repertory\_e/repertory\_e.htm</u>. Accessed 30 June 2016.
- Yu P.K. (2014). TPP and Trans-Pacific Perplexities. *Fordham International Law Journal*, 37:1129–1182. <u>http://ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/ilj/vol37/iss4/5/</u>. Accessed 26 Aug 2015.

### SOUTH CENTRE RESEARCH PAPERS

No.	Date	Title	Author
1	November 2005	Overview of the Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures in QUAD Countries on Tropical Fruits and Vegetables Imported from Developing Countries	Ellen Pay
2	November 2005	Remunerating Commodity Producers in Developing Countries: Regulating Concentration in Commodity Markets	Samuel G. Asfaha
3	November 2005	Supply-Side Measures for Raising Low Farm-gate Prices of Tropical Beverage Commodities	Peter Robbins
4	November 2005	The Potential Impacts of Nano-Scale Technologies on Commodity Markets: The Implications for Commodity Dependent Developing Countries	ETC Group
5	March 2006	Rethinking Policy Options for Export Earnings	Jayant Parimal
6	April 2006	Considering Gender and the WTO Services Negotiations	Meg Jones
7	July 2006	Reinventing UNCTAD	Boutros Boutros-Ghali
8	August 2006	IP Rights Under Investment Agreements: The TRIPS-plus Implications for Enforcement and Protection of Public Interest	Ermias Tekeste Biadgleng
9	January 2007	A Development Analysis of the Proposed WIPO Treaty on the Protection of Broadcasting and Cablecasting Organizations	Viviana Munoz Tellez and Andrew Chege Waitara
10	November 2006	Market Power, Price Formation and Primary Commodities	Thomas Lines
11	March 2007	Development at Crossroads: The Economic Partnership Agreement Negotiations with Eastern and Southern African Countries on Trade in Services	Clare Akamanzi
12	June 2007	Changes in the Governance of Global Value Chains of Fresh Fruits and Vegetables: Opportunities and Challenges for Producers in Sub-Saharan Africa	Temu A.E and N.W Marwa

### 26 Research Papers

13	August 2007	Towards a Digital Agenda for Developing Countries	Dalindyebo Shabalala
14	December 2007	Analysis of the Role of South-South Cooperation to Promote Governance on Intellectual Property Rights and Development	Ermias Tekeste Biadgleng
15	January 2008	The Changing Structure and Governance of Intellectual Property Enforcement	Ermias Tekeste Biadgleng and Viviana Munoz Tellez
16	January 2008	Liberalization of Trade in Health Services: Balancing Mode 4 Interests with Obligations to Provide Universal Access to Basic Services	Joy Kategekwa
17	July 2008	Unity in Diversity: Governance Adaptation in Multilateral Trade Institutions Through South-South Coalition-Building	Vicente Paolo B. Yu III
18	December 2008	Patent Counts as Indicators of the Geography of Innovation Activities: Problems and Perspectives	Xuan Li
19	December 2008	WCO SECURE: Lessons Learnt from the Abortion of the TRIPS-plus-plus IP Enforcement Initiative	Xuan Li
20	May 2009	Industrialisation and Industrial Policy in Africa: Is it a Policy Priority?	Darlan F. Marti and Ivan Ssenkubuge
21	June 2009	IPR Misuse: The Core Issue in Standards and Patents	Xuan Li and Baisheng An
22	July 2009	Policy Space for Domestic Public Interest Measures Under TRIPS	Henning Grosse Ruse – Khan
23	June 2009	Developing Biotechnology Innovations Through Traditional Knowledge	Sufian Jusoh
24	May 2009	Policy Response to the Global Financial Crisis: Key Issues for Developing Countries	Yılmaz Akyüz
25	October 2009	The Gap Between Commitments and Implementation: Assessing the Compliance by Annex I Parties with their Commitments Under the UNFCCC and its Kyoto Protocol	Vicente Paolo Yu III
26	April 2010	Global Economic Prospects: The Recession May Be Over But Where Next?	Yılmaz Akyüz
27	April 2010	Export Dependence and Sustainability of Growth in China and the East Asian	Yılmaz Akyüz

#### Production Network

28	May 2010	The Impact of the Global Economic Crisis on Industrial Development of Least Developed Countries	Report Prepared by the South Centre
29	May 2010	The Climate and Trade Relation: Some Issues	Martin Khor
30	May 2010	Analysis of the Doha Negotiations and the Functioning of the World Trade Organization	Martin Khor
31	July 2010	Legal Analysis of Services and Investment in the CARIFORUM-EC EPA: Lessons for Other Developing Countries	Jane Kelsey
32	November 2010	Why the IMF and the International Monetary System Need More than Cosmetic Reform	Yılmaz Akyüz
33	November 2010	The Equitable Sharing of Atmospheric and Development Space: Some Critical Aspects	Martin Khor
34	November 2010	Addressing Climate Change through Sustainable Development and the Promotion of Human Rights	Margreet Wewerinke and Vicente Paolo Yu III
35	January 2011	The Right to Health and Medicines: The Case of Recent Negotiations on the Global Strategy on Public Health, Innovation and Intellectual Property	Germán Velásquez
36	March 2011	The Nagoya Protocol on Access and Benefit Sharing of Genetic Resources: Analysis and Implementation Options for Developing Countries	Gurdial Singh Nijar
37	March 2011	Capital Flows to Developing Countries in a Historical Perspective: Will the Current Boom End with a Bust?	Yılmaz Akyüz
38	May 2011	The MDGs Beyond 2015	Deepak Nayyar
39	May 2011	Operationalizing the UNFCCC Finance Mechanism	Matthew Stilwell
40	July 2011	Risks and Uses of the Green Economy Concept in the Context of Sustainable Development, Poverty and Equity	Martin Khor
41	September 2011	Pharmaceutical Innovation, Incremental Patenting and Compulsory Licensing	Carlos M. Correa

42	December 2011	Rethinking Global Health: A Binding Convention for R&D for Pharmaceutical Products	Germán Velásquez and Xavier Seuba
43	March 2012	Mechanisms for International Cooperation in Research and Development: Lessons for the Context of Climate Change	Carlos M. Correa
44	March 2012	The Staggering Rise of the South?	Yılmaz Akyüz
45	April 2012	Climate Change, Technology and Intellectual Property Rights: Context and Recent Negotiations	Martin Khor
46	July 2012	Asian Initiatives at Monetary and Financial Integration: A Critical Review	Mah-Hui (Michael) Lim and Joseph Anthony Y. Lim
47	May 2013	Access to Medicines and Intellectual Property: The Contribution of the World Health Organization	Germán Velásquez
48	June 2013	Waving or Drowning: Developing Countries After the Financial Crisis	Yılmaz Akyüz
49	January 2014	Public-Private Partnerships in Global Health: Putting Business Before Health?	Germán Velásquez
50	February 2014	Crisis Mismanagement in the United States and Europe: Impact on Developing Countries and Longer-term Consequences	Yılmaz Akyüz
51	July 2014	Obstacles to Development in the Global Economic System	Manuel F. Montes
52	August 2014	Tackling the Proliferation of Patents: How to Avoid Undue Limitations to Competition and the Public Domain	Carlos M. Correa
53	September 2014	Regional Pooled Procurement of Medicines in the East African Community	Nirmalya Syam
54	September 2014	Innovative Financing Mechanisms: Potential Sources of Financing the WHO Tobacco Convention	Deborah Ko Sy, Nirmalya Syam and Germán Velásquez
55	October 2014	Patent Protection for Plants: Legal Options for Developing Countries	Carlos M. Correa
56	November 2014	The African Regional Intellectual Property Organization (ARIPO) Protocol on Patents: Implications for Access to Medicines	Sangeeta Shashikant

57	November 2014	Globalization, Export-Led Growth and Inequality: The East Asian Story	Mah-Hui Lim
58	November 2014	Patent Examination and Legal Fictions: How Rights Are Created on Feet of Clay	Carlos M. Correa
59	December 2014	Transition Period for TRIPS Implementation for LDCs: Implications for Local Production of Medicines in the East African Community	Nirmalya Syam
60	January 2015	Internationalization of Finance and Changing Vulnerabilities in Emerging and Developing Economies	Yılmaz Akyüz
61	March 2015	Guidelines on Patentability and Access to Medicines	Germán Velásquez
62	September 2015	Intellectual Property in the Trans-Pacific Partnership: Increasing the Barriers for the Access to Affordable Medicines	Carlos M. Correa
63	October 2015	Foreign Direct Investment, Investment Agreements and Economic Development:	Yılmaz Akyüz
		Myths and Realities	
64	February 2016	Implementing Pro-Competitive Criteria for the Examination of Pharmaceutical Patents	Carlos M. Correa
65	February 2016	The Rise of Investor-State Dispute Settlement in the Extractive Sectors: Challenges and Considerations for African Countries	Kinda Mohamadieh and Daniel Uribe
66	March 2016	The Bolar Exception: Legislative Models And Drafting Options	Carlos M. Correa
67	June 2016	Innovation and Global Intellectual Property Regulatory Regimes – The Tension between Protection and Access in Africa	Nirmalya Syam and Viviana Muñoz Tellez
68	June 2016	Approaches to International Investment Protection: Divergent Approaches between the TPPA and Developing Countries' Model Investment Treaties	Kinda Mohamadieh and Daniel Uribe
69	July 2016	Intellectual Property and Access to Science	Carlos M. Correa
70	August 2016	Innovation and the Global Expansion of Intellectual Property Rights: Unfulfilled Promises	Carlos M. Correa
71	October 2016	Recovering Sovereignty Over Natural Resources: The Cases of Bolivia and	Humberto Campodonico

		Ecuador	
72	November 2016	Is the Right to use Trademarks Mandated by the TRIPS Agreement?	Carlos M. Correa
73	February 2017	Inequality, Financialization and Stagnation	Yılmaz Akyüz
74	February 2017	Mitigating The Regulatory Constraints Imposed By Intellectual Property Rules Under Free Trade Agreements	Carlos M. Correa
75	March 2017	Implementing Farmers' Rights Relating to Seeds	Carlos M. Correa
76	May 2017	The Financial Crisis and the Global South: Impact and Prospects	Yılmaz Akyüz
77	May 2017	Access to Hepatitis C Treatment: A Global Problem	Germán Velásquez
78	July 2017	El tema de la propiedad intelectual, la salud pública y el acceso a medicamentos en las organizaciones internacionales (English translation: Intellectual Property, Public Health and Access to Medicines in International Organizations)	Germán Velásquez



Chemin du Champ d'Anier 17 PO Box 228, 1211 Geneva 19 Switzerland

Telephone: (41 22) 791 8050 Fax: (41 22) 798 8531 Email: <u>south@southcentre.int</u>

Website: http://www.southcentre.int

**ISSN 1819-6926**